Supreme Court of California Jorge E. Navarrete, Clerk and Executive Officer of the Court Electronically RECEIVED on 9/25/2020 at 4:47:26 PM Supreme Court of California Jorge E. Navarrete, Clerk and Executive Officer of the Court Electronically FILED on 9/25/2020 by Emily Feng, Deputy Clerk

S262487

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

MARISOL LOPEZ,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

GLENN LEDESMA, M.D., ET AL., Defendants and Respondents.

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION TWO, CASE NO. B284452 HON. LAWRENCE P. RIFF, TRIAL JUDGE LOS ANGELES COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT, CASE NO. BC519180

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ISSUES PRESENTED

- Whether a physician's assistant, who treats a patient without any physician supervision in violation of controlling statutes and regulations, and is therefore engaged in the unlawful practice of medicine, is nevertheless entitled to invoke Civil Code section 3333.2, as the Court of Appeal Majority held, just because there is supposedly "nominal" compliance with the singular regulation calling for a "Designated Services Agreement" between the physician and the physician's assistant?
- 2. Whether a Designated Services Agreement between a Physician and a PA is legally effective when the trial court found that the physician who was supposed to provide supervision under that Agreement was "in fact disabled from the practice of medicine and not performing any supervisory function of his PAs. . ." or did that disability result in the termination of the Agreement under general principles of agency law?

INTRODUCTION

This matter calls on this Court to determine whether Physician Assistants ("PAs") – who by statute and regulation – can practice medicine only while under the supervision of a physician, are nevertheless entitled to the benefits of Civil Code section 3333.2 even though, as the trial court found, they were acting autonomously and without any physician supervision. The answer to this inquiry is "no." Allowing a PA to enjoy the benefits of Section 3333.2 under these circumstances subverts both the language and purpose of that section.

By its terms, Civil Code section 3333.2's \$250,000 limit on noneconomic damages does not apply if the health care provider is acting outside "the scope of services for which the provider is licensed" or is in violation of any "restriction imposed by the licensing agency. . . .: (Civ. Code § 3333.2, subd. (c).) Each of these caveats apply to a PA who is treating a patient autonomously, with no physician supervision.

The Physician Assistant Practice Act specifically provides that "a physician assistant may perform those medical services as set forth by the regulations adopted under this chapter *when the services are rendered under the supervision of a licensed physician*" (Bus. & Prof. Code, §3502, subd. (a), italics added.) And pursuant to Business and Professions Code section 3532, "[a]ny person who violates Section 3502 shall be guilty of a misdemeanor punishable by imprisonment in the county jail not exceeding six months, or by a fine not exceeding one thousand dollars (\$1,000), or by both."

A PA acting without any physician supervision is thus guilty of a crime. As explained, the Legislature did not intend to reward such criminal conduct by affording PAs who treat patients with no physician supervision the benefit of the \$250,000 cap on noneconomic damages under Civil Code section 3333.2.

Here, Olivia Sarinana died needlessly when she was just four-years-old from a malignant melanoma. This tragedy was entirely preventable. Olivia was referred to a dermatologist by her primary care physician. Unfortunately, during her repeated visits at

the dermatology clinic, Olivia was never seen by a dermatologist. Instead, she was examined exclusively by PAs who were receiving no physician supervision. These unsupervised PAs negligently failed to diagnose her serious condition.

Following a bench trial, the court found that the two PAs (Ms. Freesemann and Mr. Hughes) chose to practice without a supervising physician and without adequate supervision by any physician. They were functioning autonomously and knew it. Both of the alleged supervising physicians were disabled and were not even actively practicing medicine.

Further, each physician assistant was found to have acted negligently and their negligence was a cause of Olivia's death. The Court found that plaintiff suffered \$4,250,000 in non-economic damages. However, the Court reduced this award to \$250,000. The trial court found that Section 3333.2 applied so long as the PA is not violating a restriction imposed by the licensing agency on the particular PA even if that PA is violating general restrictions imposed by the physician assistant board, including treating patients independent of a supervising physician.

Plaintiff appealed and a Majority affirmed, but not for the reasons the trial court used. Instead, the Majority held that because there was a "Designation of Services Agreement" nominally in effect between the two PAs and physicians, Section 3333.2 applied *regardless whether there was any actual supervision*. The Majority failed to explain how a Delegation of Services Agreement can be in effect if the supervising physician is not actively practicing medicine and is disabled.

In so ruling, as the dissent explained, the Majority (and the trial court before it) erred. Under the statutes and regulations governing physician assistants, a PA could perform certain of the medical services that could otherwise be performed by a licensed physician *provided that the PA is supervised by a physician*, has a valid delegation of services agreement, and has been provided with written protocols. If the PA performs any services without a supervising physician, the required supervision or without written protocols then the PA is subject to criminal prosecution for providing medical services outside the scope of his or her license.

There is no question that if these defendant PAs treated Olivia with absolutely no physician involvement, they would not be entitled to the benefits of Section 3333.2. The issue therefore is whether the simple fact that there was allegedly a Designation of Services Agreement between these PAs and two physicians, makes a difference where there was absolutely no actual supervision.

As explained below, the DSA is simply one of the regulatory measures designed to ensure that the statutory requirement of physician supervision is complied with. It is not an end in and of itself. The "end" is actual physician-supervision as statutorily required. If there is no actual supervision, then the DSA offers no added protection to a patient being treated by PA. Whether the DSA may allow a patient to more easily prove that there is an agency between the PA and a physician for purposes of establishing that the physician is vicariously liable, is too little and too late. By the time that "added protection" comes to fruition the patient has already been treated by the PA without physician supervision and has already been harmed. Moreover, in many, if not most cases, vicarious liability would exist (such as here) because there is already an employment relationship between the PA and the physician. The DSA itself thus adds nothing.

The Majority opinion embodies a tendency by Courts to apply MICRA's limitations where they have no place. If a health care provider willfully violates the applicable statute and regulations which restrict his or her ability to engage in the practice of medicine, then that health care provider either is not "*within the scope of services for which the provider is licensed*" or is within a "restriction imposed by the licensing agency...." (Civ. Code § 3333.2, subd. (c), emphasis added.) Either way, by its express terms Section 3333.2's \$250,000 cap has no application. Simply put, the PAs here cannot have it both ways: on the one hand utterly disregard the conditions that allows them to practice medicine in the first place and then claim that they are nevertheless entitled to invoke the protections of MICRA because they were supposedly practicing medicine.

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEEDINGS BELOW

This action arises from the tragic death of Olivia Sarinana when she was just four years old. Olivia died of malignant melanoma, a virulent and rare form of cancer. The plaintiff is Olivia's mother, Marisol Lopez. The defendants who are parties to this appeal are Dr. Glenn Ledesma, Dr. Bernard Koire, Physician Assistant Suzanne Freesemann and Physician Assistant Brian Hughes. The sole issue is whether MICRA's \$250,000 limitation on the recovery of noneconomic damages applies when physician assistants (such as Ms. Freesemann and Mr. Hughes) independently practice medicine without a supervising physician, any required supervision or any protocols in violation of numerous restrictions imposed by the licensing agency (The Physician Assistant Board).

The trial court found that defendants were negligent in their failure to diagnose Olivia and that this failure was the cause of her death. Olivia was evaluated or treated on six occasions at Dr. Ledesma's dermatology clinics but was never seen by a physician. (AA-149.) Instead, she was seen by Ms. Freesemann and Mr. Hughes, who were both physician assistants. (AA-149.)

Dr. Ledesma testified that he became disabled and unable to practice medicine in 2010. While Dr. Ledesma had entered into a delegation of services agreement ("DSA") with Ms. Freesemann in 2009, he was adamant that he was not Ms. Freesemann's supervising physician ("SP") when Ms. Freesemann treated Olivia. Rather, according to Dr. Ledesma, Dr. Koire was Ms. Freesemann's and Mr. Hughes's SP. Ms. Freesemann on the other hand testified that Dr. Ledesma and not Dr. Koire was her SP. (AA-156.)

Mr. Hughes had entered into a signed but undated DSA with Dr. Koire which was legally inadequate. (AA-156.) Dr. Koire testified that he was a consulting contractor for California Dermatology Centers and that his work for Dr. Ledesma consisted solely of being Mr. Hughes SP. He denied being any other PA's SP and saw no patients at the Ledesma facility. (AA-156.)

The trial court described the evidence as to Olivia's multiple examinations at the Ledesma facility where she was examined and treated by Ms. Freesemann and Mr.

Hughes. As to Ms. Freesemann, the Court found that in her three clinical encounters with Olivia "Ms. Freesemann was in clear and plain violation of many regulatory requirements pertaining to her practice as a PA." (AA-168.)

- The DSA between Dr. Goldberg and Ms. Freesemann had no application when Ms. Freesemann examined Olivia. By that point Dr. Goldberg was no longer involved with the Ledesma facilities. (AA-168.)
- 2. The January 1, 2009 DSA between Dr. Ledesma and Ms. Freesemann was nominally in effect when Olivia was examined. (AA-168-169.)
- 3. "Dr. Ledesma was no longer fulfilling any SP obligations under the January 1, 2009 DSA at the time Ms. Freesemann' s clinical encounters with Olivia." (AA-169.) "Ms. Freedman knew that Dr. Ledesma was not fulfilling his supervisory obligations." (AA-169.) He was not available in person or by electronic communications; he was not selecting for chat review cases which represented "diagnosis, problem treatment or procedure the most significant risk to the patient. . . .;" he was not within 30 days, reviewing countersigning and dating a minimum of 5% sample of medical records of patients treated by the PA. (AA-169.)
- 4. "[A]t the time of Ms. Freesemann clinical encounters with Olivia, [she] consulted with no physician affiliated with the Ledesma clinics on any topic at all in violation of 16 CCR Section 1399.540(d)." (AA-170.) The Court concluded that she decided "to practice without an SP and without adequate consultation with any physicians. The Court finds it is a virtual certainty she knew she was doing so in obvious violation of the regulations. She was functioning autonomously and she knew it. This was a violation of 16 CCR 1399.545(f)." (AA-170.)
- 5. Ms. Freesemann was "not operating under required supervisory 'guidelines' as required supervision under 16 CCR 13999.545(e)." The Court found that no such guidelines existed. "The evidence is clear that at the time of Ms. Freesemann' s clinical encounters with Olivia Ms.

Freesemann was not consulting or seeking to consult with Dr. Ledesma 'as much as possible' or at all." (AA-172.)

6. Ms. Freesemann "consistently violated 16 CCR Section 1399.54" requiring that each time she provided care to Olivia she enter her name, signature, or computer code on the patient's records and also enter the name of the supervising physician responsible for the patient. "The Court finds the . . . likely explanation for Ms. Freesemann' s failure is that she knew that Dr. Ledesma was not in fact serving as her SP and that, in fact, she had no SP to identify." (AA-172.)

The Court then recounted how Ms. Freesemann's conduct fell below the applicable standard of care on each of the three dates she examined Olivia. (AA-172-175.)

As to Mr. Hughes, the Court found that he "was aware of the existence of SP and PA regulations that governed his practice but he was unconcerned and nonchalant about compliance at the time of Mr. Hughes clinical encounters with Olivia." (AA-175.) The Court then recounted that:

- The DSA signed by Mr. Hughes and Dr. Koire was undated in violation of 16 CCR Section 1399.540(b). The Court noted that this was more than a technical violation. "[T]he dating requirement is part of the overall accountability scheme. It sets forth a clear date by which both PA and SP know to whom they owe their corresponding responsibilities." (AA-175, fn 27.)
- 2. Dr. Koire was not available in person or by electronic communications at all times Mr. Hughes was caring for Olivia. (AA-175-176.)
- "It is likely that Mr. Hughes knew that he was . . . functioning autonomously. Indeed, Dr. Koire had a stroke before even meeting Mr. Hughes and was no longer engaged in active practice." (AA-176.)
- 4. Mr. Hughes likely knew that Dr. Koire was not selecting appropriate cases for chart review. (AA-176.)

- 5. It is likely that Mr. Hughes knew that Dr. Koire was not countersigning the requisite sample of medical records. (AA-176.)
- 6. Mr. Hughes failed to adequately consult with Dr. Koire generally and with respect to Olivia in particular. (AA-177.)
- 7. When he examined Olivia, Mr. Hughes was not operating under the required supervisory guidelines. (AA-177.)
- 8. Mr. Hughes consistently violated 16 CCR 1399.54 requiring that when he treated Olivia that he sign or initial her record, chart or written order and to also enter the name of the supervising doctor. (AA-177.)

The Court then recounted how Mr. Hughes acted below the standard of care when he examined Olivia on January 3, 2011 and September 9, 2011 (the Court found that he acted within the standard of care on January 17, 2011). (AA-178-179.)

The Court next found the negligence of Freesemann and Hughes was an actual and proximate cause of Olivia's premature death. (AA-190 et seq.) The Court found that plaintiff suffered \$11,200 in economic damages and \$4,250,000 in non-economic damages. (AA-203-204.)

Finally, the Court reached the issue that is the subject of this petition. Over plaintiff's objection, the Court concluded that even though there were numerous violations of the governing statute and regulations imposed by the licensing agency the two defendant PAs were entitled to rely upon Section 3333.2's cap on noneconomic damages because there was not a regulatory restriction imposed on these two PAs individually. Plaintiff appealed this determination and in a published 2-to-1 decision, the Court of Appeal affirmed, but not on the grounds relied upon by the trial court. Instead, the Majority concluded that because there was supposedly a "designated service agreement" between the two PAs and the supervising physicians, Section 3333.2 applied despite the fact that there was no actual supervision. (Opn. 20.)

Plaintiff petitioned for rehearing pointing out that even under the Majority's analysis, Section 3333.2 did not apply as to Ms. Freeseman. While the trial court found that "[n]either party formally revoked the DSA and it was nominally (but not effectively,

as set out below) in effect at the time of Ms. Freeseman's clinical encounters with Olivia." (AA-168.) However, among the later findings "below" which were referenced by the trial court in this passage was the following: "Dr. Ledesma contends *and the Court finds*, he was in fact disabled from the practice of medicine and not performing any supervisory function of his PAs. . . ." (AA-182-183, italics added [Court makes this finding in explaining why Dr. Ledesma has liability under ostensible authority doctrine].) This finding that Dr. Ledesma was disabled from the practice of medicine meant that there was no effective DSA between him and Ms. Freeseman. The Court of Appeal denied rehearing.

ARGUMENT

I. PHYSICIAN ASSISTANTS WHO TREAT PATIENTS ABSENT ANY PHYSICIAN SUPERVISION ARE NOT ENTITLED TO THE BENEFIT OF MICRA'S LIMITATION ON THE RECOVERY OF NON-ECONOMIC DAMAGES.

The Court of Appeal Majority erred in its legal conclusion that defendants were entitled to the benefits of MICRA's limitation on the recovery of non-economic damages (Civil Code, § 3333.2) even though, as the trial court's unchallenged findings establish: Ms. Freesemann and Mr. Hughes examined Olivia without any actual physician supervision and were instead acting autonomously in violation of the statutes and regulations governing their practice. The Court of Appeal reached this conclusion even though, as described below, defendants' conduct was a crime.

Since plaintiff is not challenging the sufficiency of the evidence, the Court can and should accept the facts found by the trial court in its statement of decision and determine whether those factual findings support the judgment as a matter of law. (See *Emma* Corp. v. Inglewood Unified School Dist. (2004) 114 Cal.App.4th 1018, 1020-1021 ["The District does not challenge the sufficiency of the evidence. . . . As a result, we quote the facts and conclusions found by the trial court from its statement of decision."]; Walker v. Physical Therapy Board of California (2017) 16 Cal.App.5th 1219, 1227 ["As neither party asserts the factual findings of the trial court were not supported by substantial evidence, this court need not review those findings. Instead, our review is limited to the question of whether the relevant statutes permit the imposition of discipline based on the trial court's findings, if accepted as true. That is a question of law that we independently review. (Green, supra, 47 Cal.App.4th at p. 796, 55 Cal.Rptr.2d 140; Marek, supra, 16 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1095-1096, 20 Cal.Rptr.2d 474; see also *Ghirardo v. Antonioli* (1994) 8 Cal.4th 791, 799-801, 35 Cal.Rptr.2d 418, 883 P.2d 960 [questions of law, including] statutory interpretation, are subject to de novo review].)"]; In re Marriage of Fink (1979) 25 Cal.3d 877, 887 ["The rule is well established that a reviewing court must presume

that the record contains evidence to support every finding of fact"].)

Where (as here) the issue requires interpretation of a statute, the appellate court conducts independent review and does not defer to the trial court's interpretation. (*People ex rel. Lockyer v. Shamrock Foods Co.* (2000) 24 Cal.4th 415, 432.) Moreover, where (as here) a statute is applied to undisputed facts, the appellate court's review is independent. (*International Engine Parts, Inc. v. Feddersen & Co.* (1995) 9 Cal.4th 606, 611.)

The rules of statutory interpretation were summarized and applied to Section 3333.2 in *Kotler v. Alma Lodge* (1998) 63 Cal.App.4th 1381, 1390-1391:

The fundamental rule of statutory construction is to ascertain the intent of the Legislature in order to effectuate the purpose of the law. [Citation.] In doing so, we first look to the words of the statute and try to give effect to the usual, ordinary import of the language, at the same time not rendering any language mere surplusage. The words must be construed in context and in light of the nature and obvious purpose of the statute where they appear. [Citation.] The statute "must be given a reasonable and commonsense interpretation consistent with the apparent purpose and intention of the Legislature, practice rather than technical in nature, and which, when applied, will result in wise policy rather than mischief or absurdity. [Citations.]' " [Citation.] If the language of a statute is clear, we should not add to or alter it to accomplish a purpose which does not appear on the face of the statute or from its legislative history. [Citation.]

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