# S262487

#### **IN THE**

# Supreme Court

OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

MARISOL LOPEZ, Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

GLENN LEDESMA, et al., Defendants and Appellants;

BERNARD KOIRE, Defendant and Respondent.

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal Second Appellate District, Division Two, Case No. B284452 Hon. Lawrence P. Riff, Trial Judge Los Angeles County Superior Court No. BC519180

### ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

#### COLE PEDROZA LLP

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

#### DISCUSSION

I. The Court of Appeal Correctly Determined That Section 3333.2 Applied To The Judgment

Section 3333.2 applies to the judgment against Dr. Ledesma, Freesemann, and Hughes. The defendants are health care providers, and the action is based upon professional negligence, as those terms are defined in the statute. What is more, Section 3333.2 should apply to Freesemann and Hughes, in any event, because they were found to be the agents of Dr. Ledesma and Dr. Koire, respectively. Finally, any doubt about the construction of Section 3333.2 should be resolved in favor of applying it to accomplish its purpose.

Section 3333.2 provides that in no action "against a health care provider based on professional negligence . . . shall the amount of damages for noneconomic losses exceed two hundred fifty thousand dollars (\$250,000)." (Civ. Code, § 3333.2, subd. (a) & (b).)

The statute defines "health care provider," in pertinent part, as "any person licensed or certified pursuant to Division 2 (commencing with Section 500) of the Business

and Professions Code . . . ." (Civ. Code, § 3333.2, subd. (c)(1).)

It defines "professional negligence" as including four elements. It states:

"Professional negligence" means [1] a negligent act or omission to act by a health care provider in the rendering of professional services, [2] which act or omission is the proximate cause of a personal injury or wrongful death, provided that [3] such services are within the scope of services for which the provider is licensed and [4] which are not within any restriction imposed by the licensing agency or licensed hospital.

(Civ. Code, § 3333.2, subd. (c)(2), internal numbering added.)

A. Dr. Ledesma, Freesemann, And Hughes Are "Health Care Providers"

Dr. Ledesma, Freesemann, and Hughes are health care providers within the meaning of Section 3333.2. At the time of the underlying incidents, Dr. Ledesma was a board eligible dermatologist. (AA 154.) Freesemann was licensed pursuant to Business and Professions Code section 3500, et

seq. (9 RT 2251:1-2252:3.) Hughes was also so licensed. (See 11 RT 2723:24-28, 2786:17-26.) In fact, plaintiff does not dispute that each is a health care provider for purposes of Section 3333.2.

# B. The Alleged Negligence Occurred In The Rendering Of Professional Services

Plaintiff sued Dr. Ledesma, Freesemann, and Hughes for medical malpractice.

Claims are "based on professional negligence" where they allege an injury suffered as a result of negligence "in rendering the professional services that hospitals and others provide by virtue of being health care professionals: that is, the provision of medical care to patients." (Flores v. Presbyterian Intercommunity Hospital (2016) 63 Cal.4th 75, 88.) Here, that requirement is satisfied. First, Sarinana's death is alleged to have resulted due to Freesemann's and Hughes' negligent provision of medical care to her. In fact, plaintiff has characterized this action as one of "medical malpractice." (AA 6.)

Her claim with respect to Freesemann and Hughes, who were added as Doe defendants, is based on the alleged injuries caused by their alleged negligent care and treatment of Sarinana, in their capacity as physician assistants while providing dermatology services. (See AA 9, 242.)

Second, Freesemann and Hughes' breaches, both clinical and regulatory, are directly related to their work as physician assistants rendering medical services. For instance, Freesemann and Hughes' clinical breaches, including their respective failures to appropriately investigate, examine, and treat Sarinana's scalp lesion during her visits to the dermatology clinics, consist of breaches of professional standards of care. (See AA 167-179.) With respect to regulatory violations, all breaches pertain to Freesemann and Hughes' professional practice as physician assistants when practicing medicine. (See AA 167-179.) Consequently, Freesemann and Hughes are parties to the instant suit, in their capacity as physician assistants and solely as a result of the professional medical services they rendered to Sarinana.

C. Freesemann's And Hughes' Services Were Not
 Within Any Restriction Imposed By Their
 Licensing Agency Or Licensed Hospital

Plaintiff contends that if a physician assistant fails to satisfy a regulation promulgated by the Physician Assistant Board then Section 3333.2 is inapplicable. Plaintiff argues that the trial court's determination that Freesemann and Hughes' violated state regulations in their provision of services to Sarinana means that they were acting within a restriction imposed by the Physician Assistant Board. Plaintiff's contention is erroneous.

The limiting language in MICRA's definition of professional negligence applies to restrictions on individual licensees, not conduct that violates the California Code of Regulations.

 The Limiting Language In Section 3333.2
 Applies Only To Restrictions On Individual Licenses

To ascertain and effect the legislative intent of the definition of "professional negligence," the statutory language must be given its "plain and common sense meaning." (Chosak v. Alameda County Medical Center (2007) 153 Cal.App.4th 549, 558.) The language must also be considered in context, and not in isolation, to determine its scope and purpose. (Ibid.) The "meaning of words used in the statute" are to be interpreted "according to the usual import of the language in framing them" and "a court cannot insert qualifying provisions not included or rewrite the statute to conform to an assumed intention which does not appear from its language." (Loney v. Superior Court (1984) 160 Cal.App.3d 719, 722.)

The plain language of Section 3333.2, subdivision (c)(2), instructs that the limitation in the definition of "professional negligence" refers to services outside of a particularized restriction imposed by the licensing agency or licensed hospital on a provider's individual license. It does not apply to regulations of general applicability. The statute provides: "Professional negligence means a negligent act or omission to act by a health care provider in the rendering of professional services, . . . provided that such services are within the scope of services for which the provider is licensed and which are not within any restriction imposed by the licensing agency or licensed hospital."

First, the Legislature's use of the word "imposed" connotes an individual-based restriction. In the common sense, regulations are "adopted," not "imposed." For example, section 3527 of the Physician Assistant Practice Act permits the Physician Assistant Board to "impos[e] probationary conditions upon a physician assistant license after a hearing" for violations of the Physician Assistant Practice Act, Medical Practice Act or "regulations adopted by" the Medical Board of California or Physician Assistant Board. (See Bus. & Prof. Code, §§ 3500.5 and 3527.)

Similarly, Black's Law Dictionary defines "impose" as meaning "[t]o levy or exact," which suggests a discrete, initiating event, rather than a restriction on all classes of licenses. (See *Citizens Assn. of Sunset Beach v. Orange County Local Agency Formation Com.* (2012) 209

Cal.App.4th 1182, 1194, fn. 15.) Moreover, the entire paragraph is phrased in the singular, which further suggests that the restrictive language applies only to a particularized restriction on a specific provider's license, rather than a general regulation on an entire class of health care providers.

Second, an interpretation of the language "restriction imposed" within the context of the entire subdivision

corroborates the interpretation that it is based on licenseespecific limitations. Statutory language must be interpreted in the context of the language with which it is framed and in light of the entire statute's nature. (Loney, supra, 160 Cal.App.3d at 722.) Here, the language regarding restrictions imposed by the licensing agency must be read in context in which it appears. It is included along with language addressing restrictions imposed by hospitals. Hospitals do not impose restrictions on all physicians, and generally do not impose restrictions on all physicians with privileges, but instead impose particular restrictions on physicians with different levels of training, those being proctored, those who have been subject to staff privilege discipline, and so forth. This is indicia that the "restriction" language does not apply to general statewide government regulations.

Third, the absence of plain language evidencing legislative intent that the limiting language in Section 3333.2 be applied to any provider's conduct which violates licensing regulations shows that such a construction is contrary to the Legislature's intent. If the Legislature intended such a broad application – it would have made it clear within the statutory language itself.

 Decisional Authorities Including Waters and Prince Instruct That The Limiting Language In Section 3333.2 Applies To Restrictions On Individual Licensees Only

Plaintiff's interpretation of Section 3333.2 is also inconsistent with this Court's holding in *Waters, supra*, 40 Cal.3d 424, which took up the statutory definition of "professional negligence" and interpreted the language "restriction imposed by the licensing agency." In *Waters*, a psychiatry patient sued her psychiatrist for negligence, breach of duty of good faith, and intentional or reckless infliction of emotional distress. (*Id.* at 429.) Her claims arose from allegations that the psychiatrist had engaged in sexual misconduct with the plaintiff. (*Id.* at 428.)

The Court rejected the argument that the language "restriction imposed by the licensing agency," excludes from MICRA's ambit any conduct that was the ground for professional discipline by the state's licensing agency. (*Waters, supra,* at 436.) The Court explained that, "[i]n our view, this contention clearly misperceives the purpose and scope of the proviso which obviously was not intended to exclude an action from . . . MICRA . . . simply because a

health care provider acts contrary to professional standards or engages in one of the many specified instances of 'unprofessional conduct." (*Ibid.*) The Court further explained that the limiting language instead "was simply intended to render MICRA inapplicable when a provider operates in a capacity for which he is not licensed—for example, when a psychologist performs heart surgery." (*Ibid.*)

Without regard to whether the psychiatrist's alleged sexual misconduct was grounds for disciplinary action by the state's licensing agency, the Court held it "clear" that "the psychiatrist's conduct arose out of the course of the psychiatric treatment he was licensed to provide" under MICRA. (*Waters, supra,* 40 Cal.3d at 436.)

The Court's reasoning in *Waters* is directly applicable here, where two physician assistants have been found to have violated the general statutes and regulations governing physician assistants during their course and treatment of Sarinana.

In treating and caring for Sarinana's dermatologic manifestations, even without proper supervision by a physician, Freesemann and Hughes cannot be said to be akin to "a psychologist [who] perform[s] a heart surgery."

Rather, they were working within their practice area when treating Sarinana and working without any particularized restrictions placed on their respective and individual licenses.

The Court of Appeal's decision in *Prince*, *supra*, 161 Cal.App.4th 971, also supports a reading of the restriction as applicable only to a particularized restriction on a specific licensee. In *Prince*, the Court rejected plaintiffs' argument that their claim against an unlicensed, but registered social worker was exempt from MICRA because the provider was practicing unlawfully, having violated a disclosure statute, and was not receiving the proper supervision per the governing business and professional codes. (*Id.* at 974, 978.)

Much like plaintiff is contending in the instant appeal, the plaintiff in *Prince* argued that the social worker's violation of the disclosure statute codified in the business and professional codes "equates to a 'restriction' on [the provider's] ability to practice," and "therefore she was not acting 'within the scope of services for which the provider is licensed and which are not within any restriction imposed by the licensing agency." (*Prince*, *supra*, 161 Cal.App.4th at 977.) The court rejected this argument, both because the disclosure statute "was not imposed by the Board," and

because the argument was inconsistent with this Court's decision in *Waters*, *supra*, 40 Cal.3d 424.

Accordingly, the court held that the unlicensed social worker's violation of the disclosure statute did not exclude the action from MICRA. (*Prince*, *supra*, 161 Cal.App.4th at 978.) The scope of services for which the provider was licensed was the same regardless of the alleged violation. Furthermore, the court held that even though the unlicensed social worker was not receiving supervision as required by statute, "this does not change the nature of the services she provided." (*Ibid.*) Therefore, her conduct, and plaintiff's claim, was subject to MICRA. (*Ibid.*)

The Court of Appeal's interpretation of the licensing language in Section 3333.2 is directly applicable to this case and the conduct of Freesemann and Hughes, who were found by the trial court to have violated the Business and Professions Code and California Code of Regulations governing the general practice of physician assistants in their course and treatment of Sarinana. (AA 197-198.) Like the unlicensed social worker in *Prince*, Freesemann and Hughes were found to be practicing without statutorilymandated supervision. Such conduct does not fall outside of MICRA. (See *Prince*, *supra*, 161 Cal.App.4th at 978.) There

is no meaningful distinction between these cases, including the codes and regulation Hughes and Freesemann were found to have violated.

Notably, plaintiff fails to identify any decisional authority stating that MICRA does not apply when, and because, a licensed health care provider violates a statute or regulation.

- D. Freesemann's And Hughes' Services Provided To Sarinana Were Not Outside The Scope Of Services For Which They Were Licensed
  - Freesemann And Hughes Were Undisputedly Licensed

There is no dispute that Freesemann and Hughes held physician assistant licenses from the Physician Assistant Board. However, despite their licenses, plaintiff argues that Freesemann and Hughes were working outside of the scope of services for which they were licensed because they were not properly supervised and monitored by supervising physicians, and they were not in compliance with the regulations adopted by the Physician Assistant Board.

 The Term "Scope Of Services For Which The Provider Is Licensed" Refers To The General Nature Or Area Of The License

The term "scope of services for which the provider is licensed" refers to the general nature or area of the provider's practice. This Court explained this in *Waters*, *supra*, 40 Cal.3d 424, by distinguishing the scope of services provided by a psychologist and the scope of services provided by a cardiac surgeon. (*Id.* at 436.) This is discussed in Section I.C.2, above.

A physician assistant is licensed to provide a scope of services, just as are other licensees, including, for example, physicians, clinical psychologists, pharmacists, hospitals, paramedics, and veterinarians. These services include, but are not limited to, the following: taking health histories; performing physical examinations and making assessments and diagnoses therefrom; ordering x-rays and laboratory tests; ordering respiratory, occupational, or physical therapy treatments; responding to life threatening emergencies; instructing and counseling patients regarding matters pertaining to their physical and mental health; initiating arrangements for admissions; initiating and facilitating

referral of patients to the appropriate health facilities, agencies, and resources of the community; administering or providing medication, or issuing or transmitting drug orders in certain circumstances; performing surgical procedures without the personal presence of the supervising physician which are customarily performed under local anesthesia; and acting as the first or second assistant in surgery under the supervision of a supervising physician, and acting as such assistant without the personal presence of the supervising physician if the supervising physician is physically accessible and able to return to the patient without delay up[on the request of the physician assistant. (See Cal. Code Regs., tit. 16, § 1399.541.)

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